STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The criminal complaint, dated January 29, 2011, charged the Petitioner with 

Murder in the First Degree. (D.R.217) On October 17, 2011, the Petitioner, represented by 

David Smith and Phillip Scantlebury, pled guilty on information to one count of First 

Degree Murder, a violation of West Virginia Code 61-2-1, with the recommendation of 

mercy, pursuant to Rule 11 (e)(C) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure.(D.R. 

85) The information charged that on or about January 29, 2011, Mr. Montgomery 

committed the offense of Murder in the First Degree of Matthew Flack.(D.R. 191) As part 

of his plea agreement, the Petitioner was to cooperate with the State, and the State agreed 

to join the defense's motion for an order requiring Division of Corrections to house him 

separately from his co-defendants. (D.R. 202-203) The State also agreed not to pursue the 

firearm enhancement. 

On November 4, 2011, Scott Ash, Prosecuting Attorney for Mercer County, 

prepared a letter addressed to Phillip Scantlebury, including a part of the ballistic report 

as an attachment. (D.R. 89) The report states that "one of the cartridge cases were fired 

by the Hi Point and the other was fired by the Sig Sauer. (D.R. 90) The fired bullet was 

excluded from being fired by the Hi Point. (D.R. 90) Insignificant characteristics were not 

present to identify the bullet was fired by the Sig Sauer. The Derrigner was excluded as 

having fired the submitted bullet". (D.R. 89)The post-mortem investigation findings 

dated March 3, 2011, revealed that the victim died of the two injuries fire from the same 

missile. (D.R. 94-101) 

On November 17, 2011, Phillip Scantlebury outlined the Petitioner's version of 

events to Joe Allen, Adult Probation Officer, in a letter: 
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1. 	 That on or about January 28, 2011, and into the early hours of the 29th, in 
the company of others, he journeyed from Pulaski, Virginia, to the 
Bluefield/Princeton area with plans to commit Grand Larceny, in that plans 
were previously made to steal money from a vehicle. 

2. 	 Upon arrival, said vehicle was not available and he and his co-journeymen 
hatched a plan to go to the residence of David Flack and commit a robbery. 

3. 	 Upon gaining entry to the residence, Brandon Flack went upstairs and the 
victim, Matthew Flack, had a gun with the eventual result Brandon Flack 
being shot. 

4. 	 Your defendant, Jasman Montgomery, advanced up the stairs and shot 
once. It is currently unknown whether his shot caused the victim's fatal 
wound. 

(D.R. 103) Emphasis added. On November 28, 2011, the Petitioner was sentenced 

to life with mercy.(D.R. 103) 

On March 09, 2016, the Petitioner filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas 

Corpus, Ad Subjiciendum, (D.R. 122-128) which was subsequently denied by the 

Honorable Judge Mark Wills. (D.R. 277-300) 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner contends that the Mercer County Circuit Court erred in denying 

Petitioner's Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus because the right to be indicted 

in any offense subject to life imprisonment is, in fact, a constitutional issue that can be 

entertained in habeas proceedings. Further, Petitioner contends that his trial counsel was 

ineffective by advising him to take an illegal plea, as well as advising him to plea guilty 

prior to receiving and reviewing forensic evidence in possession of the State. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The central issue in this Petition is one of first impression, as there is no existing 

precedent regarding this specific issue. Accordingly, Counsel would request oral 

argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court ofMercer County committed error by denying 
Petitioner's Habeas Corpus because the right to an indictment for 
offenses subject to life imprisonment is a constitutional 
requirement. 

The Mercer County Circuit erred in denying Petitioner's argument that pleading 

guilty to first degree murder by information was illegal and improper. (D.R. 124) "In 

reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas 

corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and 

the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual 

findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions oflaw are subject to a de novo 

review." Syllabus point 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W.Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006) 

By finding that the requirement that an offense that may be subject to life 

imprisonment shall be prosecuted by indictment was procedural and not constitutional 

in nature, CD.R. 90-91) the Mercer County Circuit Court committed an error in a question 

oflaw. Accordingly, it is subject to a de novo review by this Honorable Court. Mathena. 

Article III, section 4 of the Constitution of West Virginia provides, in relevant part, 

that "[n]o person shall be held to answer for treason, felony or other crime, not cognizable 
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by a justice [now called a magistrate], unless on presentment or indictment of a grand 

jury." 

The court, in its finding, erroneously assumed that the requirement of an 

indictment in cases that may be subject to life imprisonment stemmed from West Virginia 

Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 7(a), which states "an offense which may be punished 

by life imprisonment shall be prosecuted by indictment. Any other felony offense may be 

prosecuted by information if the indictment is waived." (D.R. 291) 

Accordingly, W.Va.R.Crim.P Rule 7(a) does not grant a defendant a right to an 

indictment. It merely defines the defendant's ability to waive the constitutional right to 

be indicted on offenses carrying less than life imprisonment. Further, W.Va.R.Crim.P 

Rule 7(a) unambiguously states that the right to presentment or indictment by a grand 

jury of an offense subject to life imprisonment, as guaranteed by Article III, section 4 of 

the Constitution of West Virginia cannot be waived, and as the Supreme Court of Appeals 

of West Virginia held in State ex reI. McGilton v. Adams, 143 W.Va. 325, 102 S.E.2d 145, 

70 A.L.R.2d 1425 (W.Va., 1958), "[t]he incarceration of a person in the penitentiary of this 

State for an offense for which there was no presentment or indictment by a grand jury 

violates the provisions of Article III, Section 4, of the Constitution of this State and is 

therefore void." 

Next, nonvithstanding the holding in McGilton, the court engaged in what 

amounts to a harmless error analysis concerning the above error. It found that since 

Petitioner agreed to waive the indictment in exchange for a Rule He disposition, "a plea 
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by information or indictment made no difference." (D.R. 292) This reasoning, however, 

must fail. 

In State ex reI. Miller v. Smith, 168 W.Va. 745, 285 S.E.2d 500 (1981), this Court 

observed that "historically the grand jury serves a dual function: it is intended to operate 

both as a sword, investigating cases to bring to trial persons accused on just grounds, and 

as a shield, protecting citizens against unfounded malicious or [183 W.Va. 354] frivolous 

prosecutions." Id. 168 W.Va. at 751,285 S.E.2d at 504. And nowhere is this dual function' 

more important than in capital cases. 

By engaging in this type of analysis, the court is effectively making an indictment. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court has held that "a valid indictment or presentment can 

be made only by a grand jury; and no court [or prosecutor] can [properly] make an 

indictment in the first instance or alter or amend the substance of an indictment returned 

by a grand jury." State v. McGraw, 140 W.Va. 547,85 S.E.2d 849 (1955). 

Furthermore, "the failure of the grand jury to deliberate and vote upon the actual 

indictments, [is] a fundamental error which so compromise[s] the structural protections 

of the grand jury as to constitute prejudice per se." State ex reI. Starr v. Halbritter, 395 

S.E.2d 773,183 W.Va. 350 (W.Va., 1990). 

Accordingly, just as in McGilton, "the judgement and sentence in this case is 

absolutely void from the beginning, and not merely voidable." As this Court has previously 

held, "there is a vast difference between a void sentence, which may be reached by habeas 

corpus, and a sentence under a valid indictment, improper because of reversible error 
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committed by the trial court, which is cognizable in this Court only upon writ of error. " 

State v. Pishner, 73 W.Va. 744, 81 S.E. 1046 (W.Va. 1914). 

Therefore, since there can be no question that in order for a circuit court to have 

jurisdiction to take a plea for an offense subject to life imprisonment there must be a valid 

indictment. Accordingly, the defendant's conviction in this matter is void and must be 

vacated. 

THE PETITIONER'S GUILTY PLEA WAS INVOLUANTARY BECAUSE 
HE WAS NOT EDUCATED ABOUT THE EXACf NATURE AND 
CONSEQUENCES OF HIS PLEA BY HIS COUNSEL, PHILLIP 

SCANTLEBURYAND DAVID SMITH. 

Rule n of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure governs procedure and 

guidelines for taking pleas to ensure that criminal defendants are fully informed of the 

nature and consequences of their plea agreements. First a trial, court must not accept a 

guilty pleas from a defendant "without first, ... addressing the defendant personally in 

open court, determining that the plea is voluntary and not the result of force or threats or 

of promise apart from a plea agreement". W. Va. R. Crim. P. ned). The trial court must 

inform the defendant of, and determine that the defendant understands, the following 

information: 

(1) The nature of the charge to which the plea is offered, the 
mandatory minimum penalty provided by law, if any, and the 
maximum possible penalty provided by law; and 

(2) If the defendant is not represented by an Attorney, that the 
defendant has the right to be represented by an Attorney at every 
stage of the proceeding and, if necessary, one will be appointed to 
represent the defendant; and 

(3) That the defendant has the right to plead not guilty or to persist 
in that plea if it has already been made, and that the defendant has 
the right to be tried by a jury and at that trial the right of assistance 
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of counsel, the right to confront and cross examine adverse 
witnesses, the right against compelled self-incrimination, and the 
right to call witnesses; and 

(4) That ifa plea ofguilty or nolo contendere is accepted by the Court, 
there be not a further trial of any kind, so that by pleading guilty or 
nolo contendere the defendant waives the right to a trial; and 

(5) The court intends to question the defendant under oath, on the 
record, and in presence of counsel about the offense to which the 
defendant as pleaded, that the defendant's answers may later be used 
against the defendant in a prosecution for perjury or false swearing. 

Imperatively, when establishing whether a criminal defendant entered into his 

plea agreement knowingly and voluntarily, "a trial court should spread upon the record 

the defendant's education, whether he consulted with friends or relatives about his plea, 

any history of mental illness or drug use, the extent he consulted with counsel, and all 

other relevant matters which will demonstrate to an appellate court or trial court 

proceeding in habeas corpus that the defendant's plea was knowingly and intelligently 

made with due regard to the intelligent waiver ofknown rights". White v. Haines. 215 W. 

Va. 698, 704, 601 S.E.2d 18, 24 (2004) (citing Call v. McKensie, 159 W. Va. R. Crim. P. 11 

(e)(3). 

Even not taking into consideration the fact that allowing the Petitioner to plead to 

Murder in the First Degree by information was improper pursuant Article Three, Section 

4 of the West Virginia Rule of Constitiution, the Petitioner asserts that his previous 

counsel, Phillip Scantlebury and David Smith, failed to educate him about the 

consequences of his guilty plea, and misrepresented his involvement in the crime to him, 

without even knowing that exact involvement themselves. (D.R. 76-77) Specifically, the 

Petitioner pled guilty of information to First Degree Murder, with the recommendation 
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of mercy, while the ballistic report was not yet received and while it was impossible to tell 

whose gun fired the fatal shot.(D.R. 147) Certainly, the simple fact that the fatal shot was 

not fired from the Petitioner's gun would not have, in and of itself, exonerated him from 

the crime charged, but it could have, at least, played a mitigating effect of the nature of 

the plea offered. 

In fact, the forensic report from the West Virginia State Police was dated October 

26, 2011, and it stated that the first bullet was fired from the Hi Point Firearms 9mm 

Lugar pistol, and second bullet was fired from the Sig Sauer 9mm Lugar pistol. (D.R.134) 

The letter from Scott Ash, Mercer County Prosecuting Attorney, to Phillip Scantlebury, 

dated November 4,2011 indicated that "the fatal slug is going to the lab and I hope to be 

able to advise you of the test results on it in the near future". (D.R.133) The incomplete 

report from the Bluefield Police Department, stated that the evidence was received on 

November 2, 2011 and provided that one of the cartridge cases were fired by the Hi 

Point.(D.R.135-136) Insignificant characteristics were not present to identify the bullet 

was fired by the Sig Sauer. (D.R.134) The Derringer was excluded as having fired the 

submitted bullet". (D.R. 134) The Petitioner pled guilty to a capital offense on October 17, 

2011. (D.R. 2-3) Approximately three (3) weeks prior to the receipt of the report. 

In taking the guilty plea, the Petitioner wholly relied on his counsel's advice and 

guiding hand that the plea on information was in his best interest. The Petitioner states 

that Phillip Scantlebury specifically advised him that the bullet fired from his gun killed 

the victim, Matthew Flack. (D.R.79) Believing that the plea of guilty to the First Degree 

Murder was his best option because his bullet did indeed kill the victim, the Petitioner 

listened to his counsel's advice and accepted the plea agreement on information, prior to 
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receiving and reviewing a ballistics report. The Petitioner was oblivious to the lack of 

information on whose bullet killed the victim, he would not have pled guilty to Murder in 

First Degree, and would have asked his attorneys to attempt to mitigate the circumstances 

and ask the State for a more reasonable plea agreement. 

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, the Petitioner asserts that his guilty plea to 

one count of Murder in the First Degree was involuntary. 

PHILLIP SCANTLEBURY AND DAVID SMITH, COUNSEL FOR THE 
PETITIONER, WERE INEFFECTIVE IN THEIR REPRESENTATION. 

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents a mixed question of law and 

fact. Accordingly findings of fact are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, 

while the conclusions of law are subject to a de novo review. The Sixth Amendment ofthe 

United States Constitution, applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, and 

Article Three Section Fourteen of the West Virginia State Constitution guarantee a 

criminal defendant the right to effective counsel. The threshold question in analyzing 

effectiveness of counsel is "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper 

functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced 

a just result". Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688,686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

In Strickland the United States Supreme Court adopted a test that requires a defendant 

who claims ineffective assistance of counsel to prove two components. First, the 

defendant must demonstrate the deficiency of his counsel's performance. Second, the 

defendant must prove that his counsel's actions prejudiced him, thus denying him a fair 

trial. Id. The appropriate test for prejudice is showing of existence of a "reasonable 
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probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding 

would have been different". Id. at 694, 2068. Such reasonable probability is defined as "a 

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome". Id. "The assessment of 

prejudice should proceed on the assumption that the decision maker is reasonably, 

conscientiously, and impartially applying the standards that govern the decision". Id. 

West Virginia has adopted the two-prong test announced in Strickland. In fact, 

Justice Cleckley essentially paraphrased the two components of this test in Syllabus point 

5 of State v. Miller. 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995): "(1) Counsel's performance was 

deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is reasonable 

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings 

would have been different". Justice Checkley further emphasized that in examining 

ineffective assistance of counsel claims, courts must "at the same time refrain from [ ] 

from engaging in hindsight or second-guess[ing] trial counsel's strategic decisions". SyI. 

Pt. 6. Instead, courts should focus on whether counsel's actions were in accord with the 

actions of a "reasonable lawyer ... under the circumstances". Id. 

The Petitioner asserts that his trial counsel, Phillip Scantlebury and David Smith, 

were ineffective in several aspects. First, his counsel did not recognize or do thorough 

research to learn that it was improper to allow the Petitioner to enter into a guilty plea 

agreement to the Murder in the First Degree charged based upon information. (D.R. 80) 

Second, the Petitioner asserts that Phillip Scantlebury incorrectly represented to him that 

the Petitioner's bullet killed the victim, even before the forensic and/or ballistic report 

was received. Thinking that his bullet killed the victim, the Petitioner agreed to pled to 

Murder in the First Degree, the sole charge in the complaint, on information even prior 

to viewing the State's discovery. (D.R. 79) Third, the Petitioner was clearly uneducated 
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about the consequences of his plea because his attorneys failed to explain to him the 

mitigating circumstances that could have been at issue had they waited to receive the 

ballistics report from the State. (D.R. 81-82) However, a plea deal to a capital offense of 

information was hastily made, before counsel for the Petitioner, and even the State of 

West Virginia, received the full picture of the Petitioner's involvement in the crime. 

Certainly, the Petitioner's counsel was oblivious to the fact whose bullet killed the victim, 

as evidenced by the letter sent by Phillip Scantlebury to Joe Allen, Adult Probation Officer, 

exactly a month after the Petitioner pled guilty, stating that "[y]our defendant, Jasman 

Montgomery, advanced up the stairs and shot once. It is currently unknown whether his 

shot caused the victim'sfatal wound". (D.R. 147) The Petitioner, naturally, placed his full 

trust in his attorneys, and was under the impression that the guilty plea to first degree 

murder was his best interest. The Petitioner asserts that he pled guilty on information 

because he was misled by his counsel as to the nature of his involvement in the crime, and 

that he would have asked them to see if a better plea deal could be reached had he known 

that the bullet was not fired from his weapon. Accordingly, Phillip Scantlebury and David 

Smith's performance was deficient under the objective standard of reasonableness; and 

there is reasonable probability that the result would have been different if it were not for 

counsels' errors. 

CONCLUSION 


Under Article III of the West Virginia Constitution, all felony crimes must be 

brought by presentment or indictment by a grand jury. Rule 7(a) has created in an 

individual the ability to waive this constitutional requirement in limited circumstances. 
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This Rille, however, specifically provides that offenses subject to life imprisonment are 

not included. Accordingly, the Mercer County Circuit Court had no jurisdiction to takethe 

Petitioner's plea and his conviction must be vacated.