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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


Rule 7 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure-which provides that a criminal 

defendant may not plead guilty by information to a criminal offense punishable by life in prison

was violated. However, this Rule does not create a constitutional right. Instead, it is a procedural 

safeguard, which, while violated, is not an avenue for relief in a habeas corpus proceeding. Instead, 

a criminal defendant's substantive right to be indicted for a felony offense is enshrined in the West 

Virginia Constitution. This constitutional right may be waived and, in this case, it was waived. For 

these reasons, Petitioner's constitutional challenge to the validity ofhis guilty plea is without merit 

and relief should be denied 

Petitioner's remaining arguments-that his trial counsel was ineffective-fails for either 

of two reasons. First, the arguments Petitioner presents in this appeal were withdrawn during the 

proceedings below and should not be entertained now. Second, even assuming the claims were not 

withdrawn, Petitioner has failed to adequately support his allegations and the record otherwise 

establishes that the conduct of trial counsel was not objectively unreasonable and Petitioner 

suffered no prejUdice. Succinctly, during the plea colloquy, Petitioner confirmed with the court 

that his counsel advised him as to the elements of the offense, the circumstances of the case, and 

that he believed that the guilty plea was in Petitioner's best interests. Petitioner also told the court 

that he was satisfied with his counsel's performance. For these reasons, Petitioner has failed to 

establish that his trial counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable. The circuit court's 

order should be fully affirmed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral argument in this matter is unnecessary as the claims presented in this appeal are fully 

set forth in the record and briefing, and the legal issues involve application of settled law. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Review of a habeas court's denial of a petition for habeas corpus relief is three-pronged: 

"the final order and the ultimate disposition [are reviewed] under an abuse ofdiscretion standard; 

the underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions oflaw are subject 

to a de novo review." Syl. Pt. 1, State ex reI. Thompson v. Ballard, 229 W. Va. 263, 728 S.E.2d 

147 (2012) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006». 

ARGUMENT 

Relief in a habeas corpus proceeding is limited and, in relevant part to this appeal, is 

available where a petitioner establishes that his constitutional rights have been violated or that the 

lower court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence. Pethel v. McBride, 219 W. Va. 578, 589, 

638 S.E.2d 727, 738 (2006). A habeas corpus proceeding "is not a substitute for a writ of error in 

that ordinary trial error not involving constitutional violations will not be reviewed." State ex reI. 

Vernatter v. Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary, 207 W.Va. 11, 19, 528 S.E. 2d 207,215 (1999); Syl. 

Pt., State ex reI. Phillips v. Legursky, 187 W. Va. 607,608,420 S.E.2d 743, 744 (1992). 

1. Petitioner's first argument is without merit. 

A. The circuit court did not err in denying relief because Petitioner claimed below 
that Rule 7(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure was violated. 

In this appeal, Petitioner asserts that his constitutional right to plead guilty by way of 

indictment was violated and that the circuit court "erroneously assumed that the requirement ofan 

indictment in cases that may be subject to life imprisonment stemmed from West Virginia Rules 

of Criminal Procedure Rule 7(a)" as opposed to Article III, Section 4 of the West Virginia 

Constitution. (Pet'r's Br. at 7). This Court should decline to review this claim because Petitioner 

did not raise it below. He sought relief in his amended habeas corpus petition by claiming that the 

West Virginia code and Rule 7(a) was violated-he did not allege that his rights under Article III, 
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Section 4 the West Virginia Constitution were violated. (D.R. at 124). Thus, it makes perfect sense 

that the circuit court only evaluated whether the violation of Rule 7(a) was a cognizable ground 

for relief in a habeas corpus proceeding. Petitioner's brief on appeal raises an entirely new 

challenge-that his rights under the state constitution were violated. (Compare Pet'r's Br. at 6-7 

with D.R. at 124). He did not advance this claim below and the circuit court, exercising appropriate 

judicial restraint, evaluated the claims presented to it. Thus, this Court should decline to review 

this argument. See State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588,597,476 S.E.2d 535, 544 (1996) (explaining 

that "absent the most extraordinary circumstances, legal theories not raised properly in the lower 

court cannot be broached for the fIrst time on appeal."). See generally Fru-Con Const. Corp. v. 

Controlled Air, Inc., 574 F.3d 527, 540 (8th Cir. 2009) (noting that an appellate court is a court of 

review not of "first view,,).8 

B. 	 Assuming that Petitioner's first argument is addressed by this Court, his 
claims fail in substance. 

Petitioner's contention that his guilty plea was invalid and must be set aside is without 

merit. Petitioner, like every individual accused of a felony offense in West Virginia, had a 

constitutional right to be prosecuted by indictment pursuant to Article III Section 4 of the West 

Virginia Constitution. That right, like nearly every constitutional right, can be waived and 

Petitioner unequivocally waived it during his pretrial proceedings. (D.R. at 10-16; 201). While it 

is true that a procedural aspect of Rule 7 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure was 

not properly followed, that rule is not constitutionally-grounded and cannot provide a basis for 

relief in a habeas corpus proceeding. 

8 Petitioner also alleged below that the plea violated his Fifth Amendment right to be prosecuted 
by indictment. (D.R. at 124). This claim has been abandoned and for good reason: there is no such right 
applicable to the States under the federal constitution. Hurtado v. People oJState oJeal., 110 U.S. 516, 538 
(1884). 
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i. 	 The constitutional right to be prosecuted by way of an indictment may 
be waived. 

The West Virginia Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be held to answer for 

treason, felony, or other crime, not cognizable by a justice, unless on presentment or indictment of 

a grand jury." W. Va. Const. Art. III § 4. That constitutional right, however, may be waived. See 

generally State v. Hoft, No. 13-0781,2014 WL 1686928, at *1 (W. Va. Apr. 28, 2014) (affirming 

a petitioner's conviction and sentence in which, inter alia, the petitioner waived his right to an 

indictment and agreed to be prosecuted by information); Cunningham v. Ballard, No. 12-1118, 

2013 WL 2477286, at *6 (W. Va. June 10,2013) (same); Franklin v. Thomas, No. 15-0549,2016 

WL 700561, at *3 (W. Va. Feb. 16,2016) (same).9 In other words, a criminal defendant may enter 

a guilty plea by way of an information instead of an indictment where the defendant waives his 

right to an indictment. See generally State v. McGilton, 229 W. Va. 554,558, 729 S.E.2d 876, 880 

(2012) (quoting Peretz v. United States, 501 U.S. 923, 936-37 (1991)) ("The most basic rights of 

criminal defendants are similarly subject to waiver."); United States v. Mezzanafto, 513 U.S. 196, 

201 (1995) ("A criminal defendant may knowingly and voluntarily waive many of the most 

nmdamental protections afforded by the Constitution."). 10 

Here, the trial court's plea colloquy indisputably shows that Petitioner knowingly and 

intelligently waived his right to be indicted: Petitioner informed the court that he had discussed 

9 The federal constitutional right to be tried by indictment may also be waived. E.g., Matthew v. 
United States, 622 F.3d 99, 102-03 (2d Cir. 2010); United States v. Danou, 260 F. App'x 864,867 (6th Cir. 
2008) ("Under federal law, the right to be prosecuted by indictment is a right that can be waived.") (citing 
United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625, 630 (2002) (citing Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(b». 

10 The State recognizes that historic opinions from this Court indicate that a felony conviction 
obtained in the absence ofan indictment or presentment to the grand jury are void. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 2, State 
ex rei. Firestone v. Adams, 145 W. Va. 194,113 S.E.2d 830 (1960». As discussed in this brief, that standard 
has evolved and it should be beyond dispute in this appeal that a criminal defendant, in appropriate 
circumstances, may plead guilty by information to a felony charge. In short, Syllabus Point 2 of Firestone 
and related case law are no longer valid. 
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the waiver of this right with his counsel, that he knew he had an absolute right to insist on being 

indicted, and that, these rights notwithstanding, it was his knowing, voluntary, and intelligent 

decision to waive an indictment. (D.R. at 12-15). The executed waiver of indictment-signed by 

Petitioner in open court-also establishes that Petitioner unequivocally waived his constitutional 

right to be indicted. (Id. at 201). Accordingly, Petitioner's constitutional right to be indicted was 

not violated-he waived it. 

Moreover, the cases Petitioner relies upon are inapposite. Miller v. Smith was a petition for 

a writ ofprohibition which involved a challenge to the scope of evidence a grand jury is pennitted 

to consider when it is convened. State ex reI. Miller v. Smith, 168 W. Va. 745, 746, 285 S.E.2d 

500,501 (1981). That opinion does not discuss or analyze Rule 7(a) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Criminal Procedure or Article III Section 4 ofthe West Virginia Constitution. See id. Petitioner's 

reliance on State v. McGraw is even more misplaced. He quotes Syllabus Point 5 of McGraw for 

the proposition that only a grand jury may issue an indictment and only a grand jury may alter or 

amend an indictment. (Pet'r's Br. at 8) (quoting 140 W. Va. 547,85 S.E.2d 849 (1955)). However, 

this legal principle has no bearing on this appeal because the question here is whether Petitioner 

waived the right to indictment by jury, not whether the correct entity (the grand jury) issued or 

modified the indictment. Perhaps more importantly, however, is the sheer fact that this Syllabus 

Point is not even valid law. This aspect of McGraw was expressly modified by this Court in State 

v. Adams. 197 W. Va. 277, 456 S.E.2d 4 (1995). In fact, trial courts may, in appropriate 

circumstances, amend an indictment without sending it back to the grand jury to review and 

approval. Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Johnson, 197 W. Va. 575, 578, 476 S.E.2d 522, 525 (1996) (citing 

Adams, 193 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 2, 456 S.E.2d at 6). It is axiomatic that a legal argument based upon 

overruled law cannot pave the way to relief. Petitioner's quote to Halbritter is similarly irrelevant. 
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(el Pet'r's Br. at 8) (citing 395 S.E.2d 773,183 W. Va. 350 (1990)). Halbritter involved an appeal 

in which irregularities in the grand jury proceedings resulted in defective indictments-it did not 

address an issue of waiver nor did it involve a matter where a defendant pled guilty to an 

information. See id. at 351,395 S.E.2d at 774. 

Finally, Petitioner's reliance on Gaskins IS misplaced as that opinion involved a 

misdemeanor charge initiated by a citation and, critically, does not implicate the constitutional 

provision which allegedly forms the basis for relief in this appeal. See State v. Gaskins, 210 W. 

Va. 580, 582, 558 S.E.2d 579, 581 (2001). In Gaskins, this Court found that the magistrate lacked 

jurisdiction to accept a petitioner's guilty plea because the citation lacked an "essential 

component"-it did not provide the defendant with the time to appear. Id. This constituted 

reversible error in Gaskins because, "unlike a criminal complaint or summons to appear, a citation 

is completed without court review or involvement." Id. at 583, 558 S.E.2d at 582. The holding in 

Gaskins is not nearly as far-reaching as Petitioner suggests: 

a citation that fails to contain a time within which the subject of the citation must 
appear as required by West Virginia Code § 62-1-5a, and the due process principles 
embodied therein, renders the citation void ab initio. Magistrates are required to 
dismiss such facially flawed citations without prejudice, pursuant to the applicable 
provisions of West Virginia Code § 50-4-12. 

Id. at 583, 558 S.E.2d at 582. None of these facts (or even the rules or laws at issue in Gaskins) 

are present in this appeal. 

Petitioner's final claim is that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to accept Petitioner's 

guilty plea but, notably, Petitioner expressly waived tltis claim during the proceedings below. (See 

D.R. at 283). Even if this claim was not waived, the Mercer County Circuit Court had jurisdiction 

over this case given that the subject matter involved a felony (murder) committed within the 
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county. See State v. Ellison, 49 W. Va. 70, 72, 38 S.E. 574, 574 (1901). In short, Petitioner had a 

constitutional right to be indicted on this charge and he waived that right. 

ii. 	 Rule 7 is a procedural rule, providing that a criminal defendant cannot 
plead guilty by way of information to a crime that carries a life 
sentence, but that procedural rule is not a constitutional right. 

As discussed above, the right to be held to answer for a felony upon indictment is a right 

enshrined in both the West Virginia and federal constitutions. Notably, the federal government 

recognized the long established principle that constitutional rights may be waived, and therefore, 

in 1944, enacted Federal Rule ofCriminal Procedure 7(a) to allow pleas by information. I I 

West Virginia followed suit in 1981 and enacted Rule 7(a) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Criminal Procedure, which provides: 

(a) Use of Indictment or Information. An offense which may be punished by life 
imprisonment shall be prosecuted by indictment. Any other felony offense may be 
prosecuted by information if the indictment is waived. Any misdemeanor may be 
prosecuted by indictment or information. An information may be filed without 
leave of court. 

(b) Waiver of Indictment. Any felony offense which is not punishable by life 
imprisonment may be prosecuted by information ifthe defendant, after having been 
advised of the nature of the charge and of his or her rights by a written waiver 
signed by the defendant and his or her counsel and filed as a part of the record, 
waives prosecution by indictment. 

W. Va. R. Crim. P. 7. 

It was not disputed during the proceedings below and it is not disputed in this appeal that 

Rule 7 was not properly followed in Petitioner's case. (See D. R. at 290). Rule 7 provides that a 

criminal defendant may not plead guilty by information to a crime punishable by life 

1I. The advisory notes of the 1944 amendment state: "Opportunity to waive indictment and to 
consent to prosecution by information will be a substantial aid to defendants, especially those who, because 
of inability to give bail, are incarcerated pending action ofthe grand jury, but desire to plead guilty .... On 
the constitutionality of this rule, see United States v. Gill, [], 55 F.2d 399 [CD.N.M. 1931)], holding that 
the constitutional guaranty of indictment by grand jury may be waived by defendant." 
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imprisonment. W. Va. R. Crim. P. 7(a). Despite this provision, Petitioner pled guilty to such an 

offense by information. (E.g., D.R. at 201). 

Petitioner's contention that the failure to follow this procedural rule amounts to a violation 

of his constitutional rights, however, is overblown. Rule 7 is a procedural safeguard, and a 

violation of a procedural rule is not a basis for habeas relief. See, e.g., Vernatter, 207 W. Va. at 

19, 528 S.E. 2d at 215. In fact, this Court has expressly recognized that Rule 7's requirements 

"were designed to eliminate technicalities in criminal pleading and are to be construed to secure 

simplicity in procedure." Syi. Pt. 4, State v. Wallace, 205 W. Va. 155,517 S.E.2d 20 (1999). Thus, 

Rule 7's restriction-that a criminal defendant may not plead guilty to a crime that carries with it 

a life sentence-is a procedural safeguard and is not constitutional in origin. 12 Cf generally Tuttle 

v. State, 180 A.2d 608, 614 (Me. 1962). Moreover, the fact that West Virginia'S Rule 7 was 

patterned after the federal rule, see Wallace, 205 W. Va. at 159, 517 S.E.2d at 24, is further 

evidence in support ofthe conclusion that Rule 7 was not an announcement or extension ofa West 

Virginia constitutional right. Rather, it was an adoption of a variant ofthe federal procedural rule. 

iii. 	 The procedural aspect of Rule 7 was violated in this case, but 
Petitioner waived his constitutional right to be prosecuted by 
indictment. 

As discussed above, Petitioner had a constitutional right to be indicted. He waived that 

right. The complementary procedural safeguard embedded in Rule 7 of the West Virginia Rules 

12 Indeed, this Court has consistently recognized that violations of the rules of criminal procedure 
do not give rise to habeas relief. See State ex rei. Farmer v. Trent, 209 W. Va. 789, 794, 551 S.E.2d 711, 
716 (2001) (holding that "a prisoner may not collaterally attack a guilty plea under Rule 11 where all that 
is shown is a failure to comply with the formal requirements of the Rule.") (internal quotations and citations 
omitted). See also Vernatter, 207 W.Va. at 19, 528 S.E. 2d at 215. In Vernatter, the trial court violated Rule 
11 by failing to advise the habeas petitioner that he was waiving a variety of constitutional protections, 
including the right to a trial (W. Va. Const. 3-13), and the right to confront accusers (Article III, Section 
12). In denying the habeas claim, this Court held these claims were not cognizable and "[t]he requirements 
ofRule 11, while they assist in ensuring that guilty pleas comport with this basic constitutional requirement, 
are not of themselves of constitutional significance." 
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of Criminal Procedure-which states that an individual may not plead guilty to a life sentence by 

information-was violated. But a violation of the procedural rule does not amount to a 

constitutional violation. 13 For these reasons, Petitioner's argument fails.

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